
 

 The University of Texas Charter School System Page | 13 

Communications via Social Media 

Communications via social media have become increasingly important in our society.  While extremely 

valuable for communications purposes, communication via social media is virtually impossible to 

control, and subject to misunderstanding and dissemination of misinformation.  Social media is also a 

common source of rumors and speculation.  RC staff should adhere to the district’s social media policy.  

The RC should seek to minimize the potential harm of dissemination of misinformation via social media 

by: 

• Urging family members to refrain from disseminating information concerning children, RC 

conditions, or other sensitive information via social media. 

• Directing staff to refrain from disseminating information concerning the RC, family members, or 

children via social media. 

• Requesting staff to advise the Superintendent if they discover inappropriate information 

concerning the RC, family members, or children via social media. 

• Advising staff and family members to be alert to rumors or speculation being disseminated via 

social media, and inform the Superintendent of any occurrence. 

4. DEMOBILIZATION 

4.1. Authorized Demobilization of the Reunification Center 
The Superintendent and the Emergency Management Coordinator or their designees are authorized to 

activate the plan, carry out reunification operations as described in this Plan, and have the primary 

authority to determine when demobilization is appropriate. 

The Superintendent and Emergency Management Coordinator should assess the status of the ongoing 

emergency situation and review a list of “triggers” for demobilizing the RC.  Examples of triggers for 

demobilization include: 

• Fewer than three families remaining in the RC. 

• No unaccompanied minors remaining. 

These are suggested trigger points, but it should be clearly understood that the decision to demobilize is 

a subjective one and will depend on the particular circumstances of a given crisis situation.  Wherever 

possible, the Superintendent and Emergency Management Coordinator should consult with local 

emergency personnel or other key University partners in the course of determining if the time is right to 

demobilize the RC.  This communication will be especially critical in the event of a widespread 

emergency. 

4.2. Notify Stakeholders 
As soon as the decision to demobilize the RC has been made by the Superintendent and Emergency 

Management Coordinator, and the demobilization date and time are decided, all participating agencies, 

family members at the RC, local emergency personnel, and other key partners should be notified. 

4.3. Disseminate Final Media Message 
The Superintendent should provide all relevant information for messaging regarding the demobilization.  

Final messaging should go out to all media platforms that have been operational during the emergency, 

217



 

 The University of Texas Charter School System Page | 14 

including public media outlets and social media platforms.  RC staff should particularly ensure that 

information is provided in formats accessible to people with disabilities or those who have other access 

and functional needs. 

4.4. Close Out Operations 
Return all equipment and supplies to the appropriate storage area or other location.  Collect and secure 

all forms, checklists, and other written material utilized in the RC and give them to the Emergency 

Management Coordinator for disposition. 

4.5. Conduct After-Action Analysis 
As soon as possible following demobilization, a debriefing should be scheduled to identify and document 

“lessons learned” and to recommend changes in the plan if indicated.  This debriefing is often referred 

to as an “after-action report” (AAR) and is a key element of the ongoing review and maintenance of the 

UTCSS Reunification Plan.  Everyone inside UTCSS and community that participated in the family 

reunification effort should participate in the AAR.  This should include the staff of the RC, UTCSS officials, 

community partners, and local emergency personnel, as well as representatives of the 

parents/guardians involved and the children themselves, if possible.  The AAR should document 

significant events and issues, positive and negative concerning RC operations. 

5. PLAN MAINTENANCE, TRAINING and EXERCISES 
The Plan shall be reviewed annually, and updated as necessary.  In addition, the Plan should be updated 

on an ongoing basis to incorporate lessons learned from exercises and/or actual events as identified in 

an after-action report. 

The Plan will be exercised and trained upon in accordance with the district’s MEOP. Training will include 

a review of the plan and walk-through of all aspects of reunification operations from activation to 

demobilization. It will also include appropriate training of all personnel pre-identified for key staff 

positions within reunification in order to perform effectively during an actual emergency. 

 

 

 

Appendix A: FORMS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

218



 

 The University of Texas Charter School System Page | 15 

 

Parent/Guardian: Please complete section 1 of this form.  Then go to the Parent Check-In area, get in 

line according to your child’s last name and turn in this form.  You will need to show your photo ID 

twice: when you check in and when you are reunited with your child.  Thank you for your patience as we 

work to safely reunite you with your child. 

PARENTS – COMPLETE SECTION 1 

PARENT/GUARDIAN SECTION 

1 

PLEASE PRINT 

NAME OF 
STUDENT:____________________________ AGE:______ 

BIRTHDATE:_____/_____/_____ 
(mm/dd/yy) 

NAME OF PERSON REQUESTING CHILD:____________________________________________________ 

RELATIONSHIP TO CHILD:_______________________________________________________________ 

STAFF – COMPLETE SECTIONS 2 & 3 

PARENT CHECK-IN AREA 

2 

 ☐ Is the person requesting the child on the Emergency Contact List? ☐ YES ☐ NO  Staff Initials____ 

 ☐ On your Emergency Contact List paperwork, circle the name of the person picking up the student. 

 ☐ Did you verify Photo ID?   ☐ YES ☐ NO  Was identity verified through another means?  (describe) 

 

 

 ☐ Kindly direct the person requesting the student to the Family Waiting Area. This is where the  
reunification will take place. 
 

 ☐ Staff is to give this form to a “Staff Runner” to retrieve the child. 

PARENT CHECK-IN AREA 

3 

☐ Get the student from the Children’s Safe Area. Remind the staff to mark them “released” on their 
child accountability checklist. 

☐ At the Parent/Guardian Check-In Area, call out the name of the adult listed in Section 1 on this 
form who is approved to pick up the child. 

☐ Verify Photo ID again. Have them sign below and indicate where they are going next. 

Signature of person releasing child to:___________________________________________________ 

Next Destination:_______________________________________________________________ 

Staff Signature:______________________________________________ Time of Release:__________ 

FAMILY REUNIFICATION 

The University of Texas Charter School System 
 

219



 

 The University of Texas Charter School System Page | 16 

 

REUNIFICATION SIGN-OUT RECORDS – ACCOUNT FOR EVERYONE 
Depending on the emergency, this form may be used instead of the individual Family Reunification Cards to account 

for each student being reunified with parents, guardians, or designated emergency contacts. 
TIME OF 
RELEASE 

NAME OF 
CHILD (PRINT) 

RELEASING TO: 
(Print Name) 

VERIFIED 
ID? 

(circle one) 

VERIFIED ON 
EMERGENCY 

CONTACT 
LIST? 

RELEASED TO: 
(Signature) 

NEXT 
DESTINATION 

RELEASED BY: 
(staff name) 

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

   
YES  NO YES  NO 

   

220



 

 The University of Texas Charter School System Page | 17 

Appendix B: TEAM MEMBERS AND CONTACT INFORMATION 

POSITION RESPONSIBILITIES NAME(S) 
CONTACT INFO 

(24/7 Phone/E-mail) 

Emergency 
Management 
Coordinator 

Responsible for managing 
Reunification Center Autumn Leal-Shopp 512-699-5142 

Parent/Guardian 
Check-In 

Coordinator 
Oversee the parent/guardian 
check-in process Nicole Whetstone 512-791-2270 

Greeters 
Welcome parents/guardians to 
the Reunification Center 1. Jessica Loredo 512-769-4755 

 
 2. Jennifer Montoya 512-786-4138 

Checkers Conduct initial screening and 
vetting of intake forms 1. Jessica Loredo 512-769-4755 

 
 2. Jennifer Montoya 512-786-4138 

Runners 
Gather information; deliver 
messages Janina Roberts 512-965-7033 

Interpreter 

Ensure the needs of 
parents/guardians and children 
with limited hearing, languages 
other than English, etc. are met Rae Ann Buentello 512-495-3300 

Child Support 
Coordinator 

In charge of child support 
services Jackie Totten 512-495-3300 

Child Care Ensure safe environment for 
children in the RC Lulu Cardoza 512-495-9705 

Entertainment Provide entertainment for 
children at Reunification Center Lucy McCoy 512-495-3300 

Escort Assistance 
Retrieve children and bring them 
from Children’s Safe Area to 
Reunification Area Scarlett Calvin 512-495-3300 

    

POSITION RESPONSIBILITIES NAME(S) 
CONTACT INFO 

(24/7 Phone/E-mail) 

Medical 
Coordinator 

Provide medical first aid and 
mental services 

Kerry Aguillon 512-495-3300 

First Aid Low risk, outpatient medical first 
aid care 

Kerry Aguillon 512-495-3300 

Mental Health Behavioral health first aid and 
emergency mental health 
support 

Julie Joesel  512-923-3322 

221



 

 The University of Texas Charter School System Page | 18 

Campus Principal Ensure facilities and supplies are 
functional 

Lily Dominguez 214-704-9555 

Facilities Manages the Reunification 
Facility 

Bob Micks 512-471-3137 

Security Ensure facility security UT-Austin PD 512-471-4441 

 

 

  

222



 

 The University of Texas Charter School System Page | 19 

Appendix C: JOB ACTION SHEETS 
 

 

  

223



 

 The University of Texas Charter School System Page | 20 

Appendix D: CODE OF CONDUCT 
Staff at the Reunification Center (RC) should make every effort to conduct themselves in a discrete and 

helpful manner due to the potential traumatic nature of the event and the family’s high level of 

emotional stress.  All staff members, including those who are from the public and private sector, UTCSS 

employees and volunteer staff, contractors, consultants, and others, who may be assigned to perform 

work or services relating to family reunification, should adhere to the following Code of Conduct: 

  ☐ Protect life before property.  The safety of children, their families, and staff of the University is the 

primary concern at all times.  Once personal safety is secured, protect the property and other assets 

entrusted to you by family members and others against loss, theft, or abuse. 

  ☐ Take responsibility.  Be accountable for your entire job requirements as outlined in the Job Action 

Sheets (JAS) and organizational policies.  Assist others in providing care and/or services promptly.  (See 

Appendix C for Job Action Sheets for all of the positions/roles to be filled in a reunification process.) 

  ☐ Protect privacy.  Do not share any information (including photos of children or other participants) or 

provide access to the media without specific permission from the Superintendent and express consent 

from children and/or family members.  Follow principles outlined in Health Insurance Portability and 

Accountability Act (HIPAA) and Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) policies. 

  ☐ Treat all with respect.  Maintain positive communication, both inside and outside the reunification 

facility.  Do not criticize decisions in the presence of children or family members.  Handle conflict 

promptly and appropriately by asking for help and offering positive solutions to problems that are 

identified.  Refrain from engaging in loud conversations, laughter, and other social conversations in the 

Reunification Center. 

  ☐ Communicate clearly.  Communicate openly, respectfully, and directly with children, family, and 

staff.  Clearly identify yourself and your position to children, family members, and staff and wear your 

nametag, if applicable, where it is clearly visible. 

 

  

224



 

 The University of Texas Charter School System Page | 21 

Appendix E: ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 
 

 

  

Superintendent 

Campus Principals Campus Principals Campus Principals Campus Principals

Emergency 
Management 
Coordinator

225



 

 The University of Texas Charter School System Page | 22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Superintendent 

Greeter/Door 

Person 

Parent/Guardian 

Check-In Person  

 

Emergency 

Management 

Coordinator 

Mental Health 

Counselor / 

First Aid 

Runners & 

Escorts 

226



 

 The University of Texas Charter School System Page | 23 

Appendix F: FACT SHEET 
 

227



THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 

PARENT & STUDENT HANDBOOK 

2021-2022 

228



W 

WELCOME 

elcome to The University of Texas Elementary School for the 2021-2022 school 
year. This handbook provides a reference for pertinent details regarding our school. 

Our goal is to provide the best education possible in a warm, supportive and safe school 
environment for each student. We invite you to become actively engaged in your child’s 
learning. We know that your involvement, combined with our excellent faculty and staff, 
will make this year a rewarding experience for your children. 

“HOOK ‘EM LITTLE HORNS” 

Sincerely, 

Melissa Chavez, Ph.D. Lily Dominguez, 
Superintendent Associate Principal 

Nicole Whetstone, Ph.D. Melissa Garcia, 
Deputy Superintendent Assistant Principal 

MISSION STATEMENT 
The mission of the University of Texas Elementary School is three-fold: to develop 
students into lifelong learners through rigorous research-based curricula delivered 
in a nurturing environment that includes parental and community involvement; 
provide opportunities for professional development and outreach for the University’s 
academic units; and serve as a model of an exemplary program for diverse learners. 

229



 

 
  

 

PARENT & STUDENT HANDBOOK 
THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 

 
 

 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTENDANCE POLICY 

CONTENTS 
 

 . . 
 . . 
 . . 
 . . 
 . . 
 . . 
 . . 
 . . 
 . . 
 . . 

 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 

 

Attendance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 8 
Excused Absences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 9 
Tardies/Excused Tardies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 9 
Attendance Notices . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 9 
Withdrawal from School . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 10 

PARENT COMMUNICATION & INVOLVEMENT 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 

 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 

 
 . 
 . 
 . 

UTES Mascot . . . . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 5 
Dress Code . . . . . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 5 
School Hours . . . . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 5 
Breakfast and Lunch . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 5 
After-school Care . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 6 
Bus Transportation . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 6 
Class/Birthday Parties . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 6 
Study/Field Trips . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 6 
Celebrate Freedom Week   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 6 
Pledge, Moment of Silence   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7 
Personal Items, Cell Phones, and Other Electronic Devices   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7 
School Supplies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7 
Textbooks and Library Books . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7 
Security . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7 
Traffic and Safety Rules . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 8 

 

Communication . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 10 
Change of Address or Phone Number .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 11 
Parent Visitation . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 11 
Video Recording . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 11 
Conferences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 11 
Parent Involvement . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 11 
Volunteer Program . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 12 
Telephone Use . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 12 
Homework . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 12 
Emergency School Closing . . . . . . .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 12 
Report Cards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 13 
Response to Intervention Notification (RTI)   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . 13 
Section 504 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . 13 
Semester Awards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . 13 
Semester Award Chart . . . . . . . . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . 14 
Parental Rights . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . 15 
Sexual Harassment . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . 15 
Student Conduct Complaint and Reporting   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . 16 
Special Education Services . . . . . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . 17 
Special Education Referrals . . . . . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . 17 
Student Success Initiative . . . . . . . . . .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . 18 

 

230



 

CONTENTS 
 
 
 

DISCIPLINE & ANTI-BULLYING POLICIES 
Discipline Policy . . . . . . . . . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 19 
UTES Anti-bullying Contract . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . Appendix 

HEALTH & WELLNESS 
Health . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 21 
Guidelines for Illness in School .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 22 
Medication . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 23 
Emergency Care Information . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 23 
Wellness Guidelines . . . . . . . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 23 
Physical Fitness Assessment . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 23 
Federal and State Standards . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 23 
UTES Food Standards . . . . . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 24 

Recommended Snack List . . . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . Appendix 
 

KEEPING CHILDREN SAFE 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 
 . 

 
APPENDIX                                                                                                       28 

Community Commitment Compact 
UT Elementary Anti-Bullying Contract 
Parent Handbook Agreement 
UTES Recommended Snack List 

      

Drills-Emergency Information . .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 24 
Reporting Child Abuse . . . . . .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 26 
Recognizing Abuse and Neglect  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 26 
Signs or Symptoms of Abuse . .  .  .  .  .  .   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . 26 
Protecting Children Online: Cyber Safety   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . . . . 27 

 

231



The University of Texas Elementary School 

5 

General Information 

UTES MASCOT 
The mascot of the University of Texas Elementary School (UTES) is the Little Longhorn. 
The school colors are burnt orange and white. 

DRESS CODE 
UTES has a daily student uniform of burnt orange, white, or navy collared shirt and khaki or navy pants, shorts 
or skirts. Students without a collar (i.e. T-shirt) are not considered in uniform, and will be asked to change 
into a uniform brought from home. Students may wear a UT Spirit shirt on Fridays only. Students are expected 
to wear appropriate, closed-toed, shoes for PE and play. Flip-flops and cowboy boots are not appropriate for 
school. Encourage older female students to wear proper undergarments as needed so that they are comfortable 
and well supported during PE. 

SCHOOL HOURS 
The school doors on Hidalgo Street (by the gym) are opened at 7:10 a.m. From 7:10 – 8:00 a.m., students 
will enter the school through the Healthy Horns Hall. After 8:00 a.m. all students will enter through the 
front office. The school day begins at 8:00 a.m. Students arriving after 8:00 a.m. are considered tardy. 
The instructional day ends at 3:30 p.m. Students MUST be picked up no later than 3:45 p.m. unless they 
are transported home on the bus, go to childcare, or have a teacher-sponsored activity after school. Students 
not picked up by 3:45 p.m. must be signed out from the front office by an adult. 

BREAKFAST AND LUNCH 
Breakfast is served from 7:10 –7:55 a.m. All students are provided breakfast and lunch at no cost. Families will 
still be asked to complete applications for the Child Nutrition Program. The information from these applications 
is connected to school funding and grants.  

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

232



The University of Texas Elementary School 

6 

AFTER SCHOOL CARE 
UT Elementary has an on-site after-school care program, provided by the YMCA. For enrollment and fee 
information, please contact YMCA personnel at (512) 236-9622. The following recreation centers pick 
up students from our school for off-site after-school care. You may contact them directly for enrollment 
information, fees, and availability: Pan American Rec Center at (512) 476-9193 and Metz Rec Center at 
(512) 478-8716.

CLASS/BIRTHDAY PARTIES 
Each class has a limit of three class parties per year. Your child’s teacher will communicate in advance 
information regarding class parties. Parties are typically held at Winter Holiday, Valentine’s Day and at the end 
of the year. Parents are invited to participate in class parties. Birthday parties are not allowed in the classroom 
and invitations may not be passed out at school unless every student is invited. Parents are able to coordinate a 
special snack for the class to enjoy after lunch time. Please follow state guidelines about nutrition by providing 
healthy treats rather than cakes, cupcakes and cookies. Balloons or other floral decorations are not allowed in 
the classroom. Those delivered remain in the front office until the end of the day. 

STUDY/FIELD TRIPS 
Parents will be notified in advance when children leave campus on study trips. All study trips are planned 
for educational purposes only. When private transportation is used, students must have a permission and 
transportation form signed by the parent. Parents are requested to be chaperons on some of the study trips, 
depending on the venue and experience. Each grade level makes that decision in collaboration with the study 
trip provider, taking into account space availability, and overall experience. We kindly request that siblings 
not attend so adults can focus on the students’ needs, safety and care. 

It is important for all students to attend study trips as it is an enhancement and integral part to our curriculum. 
However, if your student has had excessive behavior issues, you may be asked to help chaperon him/her to 
the event. 

CELEBRATE FREEDOM WEEK 
UTES participates in Celebrate Freedom Week which is scheduled by law to occur during the last full week 
of classes during the week in which September 17th occurs. Instruction includes study of the intent, meaning, 
and importance of the Declaration of Independence and the United States Constitution, including the Bill 

of Rights, in their historical context. Students with conscientious objections, children of 
representatives of foreign governments, or children who have a written request from a parent or 
guardian may be exempted from the activity. 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

233



The University of Texas Elementary School 

7 

PLEDGE, MOMENT OF SILENCE 
UT Elementary will recite the Pledge of Allegiance and the Texas State Pledge followed by a minute of silence 
each school day. SB83 requires students to recite the pledges to the United States and the Texas flag once each 
school day. Students may be excused from reciting a pledge on request of the student’s parent or guardian. 
The legislation also requires school boards to provide for a minute of silence following the pledges during which 
students may reflect, pray, meditate, or engage in another silent activity that is not distracting to other students. 
School employees are required to ensure that students remain silent and do not distract other students. 

To request that your child be excused from participation in the daily recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance to 
the United States flag and the Pledge of Allegiance to the Texas flag, the request must be in writing. State law 
does not allow your child to be excused from participation in the required moment of silence or silent activity 
that follows. 

PERSONAL ITEMS, CELL PHONES, AND OTHER ELECTRONIC DEVICES 
Parent cooperation is greatly appreciated in limiting the amount of unnecessary items such as toys, playing 
cards, iPods, electronic games, sunglasses, cell phones, and fidget spinners. These items interfere with the 
learning process. According to the Student Code of Conduct, the district does not permit students to openly 
possess telecommunications devices, including mobile cell phones during school hours or at any school related 
function. A student who is in violation will have the device confiscated. A cell phone may be collected when the 
student arrives, kept in a secure location, and returned to the parent, who must arrange a time to pick up the 
phone. Any disciplinary action will be in accordance with the Student Code of Conduct. The district will not be 
responsible for damaged, lost, or stolen telecommunications devices. 

SCHOOL SUPPLIES 
Students are expected to have the necessary supplies for school each day. Please tell the school office if you are 
in need of school supplies. 

TEXTBOOKS AND LIBRARY BOOKS 
It is the responsibility of the school and the administrators to issue, collect, care and account for all state- 
adopted textbooks. All textbooks and library books that are lost, damaged, or destroyed by a student are paid 
for by that student at the state established price. 

SECURITY 
All gates are locked throughout the day with the exception of the doors and gates to the main entrance. If a 
family has special custody or security concerns, it is the family’s responsibility to inform the school in writing 
and provide copies of court orders that give or deny permission to specific parties. 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

234



The University of Texas Elementary School 

8 

Any visitor who is not a student or staff member MUST SIGN IN at the front office and get a visitor identification 
sticker. UTES utilizes the Raptor system to screen visitors. Upon entering the school building, visitors will 
be asked to present an ID such as a driver’s license, which can either be scanned or manually entered into 
the system. If a parent or guardian for any reason does not have a US government-issued ID, the school staff 
member can use any form of identification and manually enter the person’s name into the Raptor system. The 
Raptor system checks the visitor’s name and date of birth for comparison with a national database of registered 
sex offenders. No other data from the ID is gathered or recorded and the information is not shared with any 
outside agency. Once entry is approved, Raptor will issue a badge that identifies the visitor, the date, and the 
purpose of his/her visit. A visitor’s badge will not be necessary for those who visit our schools simply to drop off 
an item in the office or pick up paperwork. 

TRAFFIC AND SAFETY RULES 
For smooth and safe student drop-off and pick-up times, all parents/guardians are asked to comply with the 
following safety rules: 

• Students are reminded to walk on all sidewalks and cross only at the crosswalks.
• Follow the directions of the crossing guards at all times. They are there to keep traffic moving and

children safe.
• For safety, do not park or stop in the fire lanes or on the railroad tracks, even for a brief period of time.
• The disabled parking area is clearly marked in front of the circle drive. These spots are reserved

for our children and parents with special needs.
• Park your car on the street in designated spaces. Do not park in spaces reserved for UTES faculty and staff.
• Do not stop your car in the crosswalk area. The crosswalk is utilized by all of our students and parents

during drop-off and pick-up. Stop your car before the crosswalk when a crossing guard is bringing your
child to your car.

• Abide by traffic and safety laws and do not drive through nearby business parking lots.

Attendance Policy 

ATTENDANCE 
Students learn best when they attend school every day. When students miss school, they miss important 
lessons and essential skills needed for academic success. Regular attendance establishes patterns of 
responsibility and commitment that will serve students throughout their lives. Attendance is also how school 
funding is established each year. Like all other public schools, UT Elementary School is funded through the 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

235



The University of Texas Elementary School 

9 

average daily attendance of our students. The State of Texas has a mandatory attendance policy called the 
Compulsory Attendance Law Sec. 25.085 TEC. All students who attend a public school (Pre-K–12th grade) are 
required to come to school every day. Here are the general rules and procedures for attendance at our school. 

WHAT IS AN EXCUSED ABSENCE? 
A child can be excused for a temporary absence resulting from any cause acceptable to the administrators. 
For an absence to be excused, you must write a note with the child’s full name, date of the absence and reason 
for the absence. *Notes need to be provided to the Front Office within one (1) week of absence for it to be 
considered. If your child is ill and has been to the doctor, a doctor’s note is best. If your child is out for 3 days 
or more due to illness, a doctor’s note is required. Administrators have the right to excuse absences at their 
discretion. Full-day absences, whether excused or unexcused, will still be noted on the student’s report card 
and count towards overall attendance scores. 

Excused absences generally are for the following reasons: 
• Illness
• Religious holiday (1 day)
• Bereavement (3 days)

WHAT IS A TARDY? WHEN ARE THEY EXCUSED? 
A tardy is counted when a child comes to school after 8:00 a.m. or leaves before the end of the instructional day, 
which is 3:30 p.m. A tardy is excused only when the child has a documented medical appointment. Please 
provide the medical note so the tardy can be marked as excused. Only medical notes for the student who has 
the appointment are accepted as excuses for a tardy. Medical appointments include visits to a physician, dentist, 
and therapist or for the purpose of Medicaid screening. 

WHY DID I GET AN ATTENDANCE NOTICE? 
If your child has missed 4 or more days or parts of days (tardies) that are unexcused you will receive an 
attendance notice. If attendance becomes difficult for you and your family, we will need to meet and make a 
plan to get your child to school each day. 

EXPECTATIONS OF STUDENT ATTENDANCE 
All students at UTES are expected to: 

• Arrive ON TIME to school • Provide written communication when absent
• Be present for the entire school day • Complete or make-up work when absent

CONSEQUENCES 
• 1st Attendance Notice: after 4+ unexcused absences or tardies in 6 weeks. Notice must be signed

and returned.
• 2nd Attendance Notice and meeting with administrator: after additional 4+ unexcused absences or

tardies in 6 weeks
• 3rd Attendance Notice and meeting with administrator for mandatory Truancy Prevention Program.

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

236



The University of Texas Elementary School  

10 

WITHDRAWAL FROM SCHOOL 
A parent or guardian should accompany a student when withdrawing from school. A parent signature is 
required for withdrawal of a student under the age of eighteen. The procedure for withdrawal is as follows: 

1 Obtain appropriate withdrawal forms from the campus registrar’s office. 
2 Have the appropriate forms filled out by teachers; return all school instructional materials and 

technological equipment, library books, school property, and make sure all fees/fines are paid. 

When parents wish to withdraw a child from school, they should contact the school office at least one 
day before the date of withdrawal. Before a student can be cleared to withdraw, he/she must return all 
textbooks and library books, and pay for lost or damaged books. School records will be sent upon request 
from the new school. 

 
 
 
 
 

Parent Communication & Involvement 
 
 
 

COMMUNICATION 
The University of Texas Elementary School (UTES) provides a variety of methods for communicating with our 
students and families. 

PAPER: Your child’s teacher will send a parent communication folder (Thursday Folder) home each Thursday 
to inform you of your child’s progress and important events and information. As much as possible, information 
will be communicated electronically and posted on our website. However, there will still be occasions to send 
home paper notices in these folders. 

ELECTRONIC: The email you provide with registration will be added to our group email account. You may 
receive weekly emails with information from the Thursday Folder as well as any pertinent information on 
school and community events. A newsletter from the principal will be emailed out each month. Please take the 
time to read these. They will contain important information to keep you current on school meetings, issues, 
policies and services. Grade level newsletters are emailed monthly. These newsletters will keep you informed of 
class activities and instruction. Please discuss newsletters, notes, and reports with your child. 

DOJO: ClassDojo is a communication application for the classroom. It connects teachers, parents, and students 
who use it to share photos, videos, and messages through the school day. You can see all of your child’s feedback 
from teachers, hear important announcements and updates, and see photos and videos from class. Parents are 
invited to join using a code from your child’s teacher. All of your child’s information is kept safe on ClassDojo, 
only their teachers, and you as their parents can see their information. 

 
 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK  

237



The University of Texas Elementary School 

11 

WEB: Cafeteria menus, the annual calendar, and monthly newsletters are posted on the UTES website. 

FACE-TO-FACE: Community Coffees are held each quarter with tours given afterward. School administrators 
encourage you to come and meet with them to discuss any concerns, share in successes and learn more about 
our programming. 

CHANGE OF ADDRESS OR PHONE NUMBER 
The campus registrar’s office should be notified immediately of a change of home or business phone number 
or of a change of address. Up-to-date information is essential for the school to successfully handle emergencies 
and to maintain communication with parents. 

PARENT VISITATION 
Parents are encouraged to visit the school throughout the year. Making an appointment with the teacher at 
least a day in advance is not only a courtesy, but also enables you to schedule the visit for maximum benefit 
(the class may be taking a test or going on a study trip). Teachers cannot stop instruction to visit with parents 
who “pop-in.” However, parents are welcome to email or call their child’s teacher to set up a time to meet 
before or after school or during the teacher’s planning period. To maintain the safety of our campus and 
students, ALL visitors, including parents, must sign in at the office and get a visitor sticker before going to 
any classroom teaching area. Please limit your visit to 30 minutes. Teachers will be happy to discuss your 
observation with you at a mutually convenient time. You are always welcome to visit and eat lunch with your 
child or volunteer in the classroom. Please arrange your volunteer time with your child’s teacher. Taking 
photos and/or videotaping other students while visiting is not allowed. 

VIDEO RECORDING 
At no time will any UTES volunteer or parent video record any students or staff members without the expressed 
written consent of the campus principal or the superintendent. 

CONFERENCES 
Teachers and/or parents may request a conference when desired; however, the teacher must attempt to 
schedule a conference when the student’s grades are failing or the student is doing borderline work in any 
subject. The request for a conference is marked on the report card, along with the scheduled time and date. 
UTES will hold parent conferences October 14th and February 17th. Parents are expected to attend all parent 
conferences. 

PARENT INVOLVEMENT 
The University of Texas Elementary School (UTES) has multiple opportunities for parents to be involved in our 
program and school events. 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

238



The University of Texas Elementary School 

12 

LITTLE LONGHORN LEAGUE: Little Longhorn League (L3) is a parent-led organization that promotes parent 
and community involvement and acts as a support network for both UTES parents and teachers. L3 provides 
an important and necessary foundation on which the academic program can successfully build. We encourage 
all parents to become involved in their child’s education by joining the UTES Little Longhorn League. 
Participation in L3 is a great way for parents to connect with UTES staff and with other parents. L3 meetings 
occur at 5:30 p.m. once a month and are an opportunity for parents to learn more about school programming, 
campus updates and opportunities to be involved in campus activities. L3 additionally works with 
administration to organize fundraisers. 

EDUCATION COUNCIL: The Education Council is led by campus administrators that are made up of teachers, 
parents and board members. The Ed Council reviews yearly campus goals and objectives and monitors progress 
toward these goals. Ed Council reviews campus data and develops goals and objectives for the following school 
year. Ed Council meets one afternoon every quarter. 

SHAC: The Student Health Advisory Committee (SHAC) is a parent-led organization made up of staff, 
parents and community partners. SHAC reviews campus programming and initiatives connected to the Eight 
Components of Coordinated School Health. SHAC meets one afternoon every quarter. 

VOLUNTEER PROGRAM 
All parents are encouraged to volunteer in some manner during the school year. The volunteer program is 
designed to enable parents to participate in the educational process of our school. Parents have the opportunity 
to volunteer in several areas such as: in-classroom, clerical, and for special school-wide events. 

TELEPHONE USE 
The school phone is a business phone and is not used to make personal calls. Students may get permission from 
their teacher to use the phone in case of an emergency. 

HOMEWORK 
At UT Elementary School, students are expected to follow through with homework assigned by the classroom 
teacher. Each student is expected to practice their reading at home daily and record their efforts in a nightly 
reading log, as well as complete assignments in core content areas. In grades 2nd – 5th homework will count 
as 10% of the 9 weeks grade. Incomplete homework or missing homework will be addressed through the 
following steps: 

• Call to parent/guardian each week homework is incomplete or missing
• Discussion with student
• Request to complete homework during station or center time
• Parent conference

EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSING 
Check radio and television stations for information. In the event weather conditions or emergencies make it 
necessary to close school, UTES follows Austin ISD inclement weather decisions. 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

239



The University of Texas Elementary School  

13 

REPORT CARDS 
Report cards are sent home every nine weeks. Each reporting period the parent will receive written comments. 
Please read the comments and review grades with your child and sign and return the report card envelope each 
nine weeks. Any student failing or borderline at the mid-nine weeks will receive a written progress report. 

 

RESPONSE TO INTERVENTION NOTIFICATION (RTI) 
For those students who are having difficulty in the regular classroom, all school districts and open enrollment 
charter schools must consider tutorial, compensatory, and other academic or behavior support services that are 
available to all students, including a process based on Response to Intervention (RTI). The implementation of 
RTI has the potential to have a positive impact on the ability of districts and charter schools to meet the needs of 
all struggling students. Students that are at risk of not passing their coursework during the middle of a grading 
term will receive a progress report along with an RTI notification stating the interventions that are utilized 
to assist with the poor performance. If the low performance continues, a Local Support Team (LST) will be 
adjourned to discuss further recommendations. 

If a student is experiencing learning difficulties, his or her parent may contact school administration to learn 
about the school’s overall general education referral or screening system for support services. This system links 
students to a variety of support options, including making a referral for a special education evaluation or for a 
Section 504 evaluation to determine if the student needs specific aids, accommodations, or services. A parent 
may request an evaluation for special education or Section 504 services at any time. 

 

SECTION 504 
Pursuant to Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the district has a duty to identify and provide 
educational accommodations and related services to those students who have disabilities, but who are not 
in need of special education for that disability in accordance with the individuals Disabilities Education Act 
(IDEA). For additional information, please contact the district’s Section 504 Coordinator, Nicole Whetstone, 
Ph.D., nwhetstone@austin.utexas.edu. 

 
SEMESTER AWARDS 
At UTES we strive to provide students with the high quality, research-based learning opportunities needed to 
develop the academic knowledge, intellectual habits and social and emotional skills needed to be college 
and career ready. Student awards are directly connected to this purpose as they serve to not only recognize stu- 
dents for their hard work, but to teach students that recognition and rewards are not given, but earned. 
Our awards system is research-based and designed to reflect the many areas in which students may demon- 
strate excellence including academics, citizenship and conduct. Beyond recognition, our awards system teaches 
students how to set and reach goals, overcome obstacles, develop resilience and realize that reaching their 
full potential is within their control and directly related to their choices. We set high expectations for our 
students and believe that each one of our students is capable of excellence. The chart on the following page 
shows a listing of awards, a description, and opportunities to earn. 

 
 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK  

240

mailto:nwhetstone@austin.utexas.edu


The University of Texas Elementary School  

14 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK  

Award Description Opportunities to Earn 
 

Distinguished 
Achievement 

All A’s in 1st semester averages 
All A’s in 2nd semester averages 
All A’s in end of year averages 

All A’s for 1st semester-certificate 
All A’s for 2nd semester-certificate 
All A’s for all year- medal 

 
Honorable 
Achievement 

All A’s and B’s in 1st semester 
averages 
All A’s and B’s in 2nd semester 
averages 
All A’s and B’s in end of year 
averages 

All A/B for 1st semester-certificate 
All A/B for 2nd semester-certificate 
All A/B for year-medal 

 
Attendance 

Multiple Years for Perfect 
Attendance 

5th Grade-Only Perfect Attendance 
for multiple years. 

 
Longhorn Leader 

Students that demonstrate 
excellence as UT Peacekeepers, 
who strive to serve others and 
who demonstrate outstanding 
leadership. 
(Only one per class) 

End of Year-2 per class 

Special Areas- 
Excellence in PE 
Excellence in Music 
Excellence in STEAM 
Excellence in Spanish 

Students that demonstrate 
excellence by doing their best, 
showing tenacity and acting as 
Peacekeepers in their class. 
(Only one per class) 

End of Year-1 per class 

Completion All students in PreK -1st will be 
recognized. 

End of Year Awards- Certificate 

 

241



The University of Texas Elementary School 

15 

PARENTAL RIGHTS 
Parents have a right under the Federal Education Privacy Act (FERPA): 

1 To request information regarding the professional qualifications of their child’s teachers. 
2 To request information about the qualifications of any paraprofessional who may provide services 

to their child. 
3 To review teaching materials, textbooks, and other teaching aids and instructional materials used 

in the curriculum, and to examine tests that have been administered to their child. 
4 To inspect a survey created by a third party before the survey is administered or distributed to their child. 
5 To review their child’s student records when needed. These records include: attendance records, 

test scores, grades, disciplinary records, counseling records, psychological records, applications for 
admission, health and immunization information, other medical records, teacher and counselor 
evaluations, reports of behavioral patterns, and state assessment instruments that have been 
administered to their child. 

6 To remove their child temporarily from the classroom, if an instructional activity in which their child 
is scheduled to participate conflicts with their religious or moral beliefs. The removal cannot be 
for the purpose of avoiding a test and may not extend for an entire semester. Further, their child must 
satisfy grade-level and graduation requirements as determined by the school and by the Texas 
Education Agency. 

7 Parents may grant or deny any written request from the district to make a videotape or voice recording 
of their child. 

FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY (FERPA) STATEMENT: 

Certain information about district students is considered directory information and will be released to anyone 
who follows procedures for requesting information unless the parent or guardian objects to the release of the 
directory information about the student. If a parent does not want the UT Elementary to disclose directory 
information from their child’s education records without their prior written consent, you must notify the district 
upon enrollment of the student into our school district. 

UT Elementary has designated the following information as directory information: student’s name, honors and 
awards received. 

SEXUAL HARASSMENT 
The district believes that every student has the right to be free from all forms of discrimination and harassment 
while attending district schools and school-related activities. The district regards sexual harassment of students 
as a serious incident and will consider the full range of disciplinary options, up to and including expulsion, 
according to the nature of the offense. 

All students are expected to treat one another courteously, with respect for the other person’s feelings; to avoid 
any behaviors known to be offensive; and to stop these behaviors when asked or told to stop. All students are 
prohibited from engaging in offensive verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature directed toward another 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

242



The University of Texas Elementary School  

16 

student or adult. This prohibition applies whether the conduct is by word, gesture, or any other intimidating 
sexual conduct, including requests for sexual favors that the other student regards as offensive or provocative. 
Students and/or parents are encouraged to discuss their questions or concerns about the expectations in this 
area with the teacher, campus administration, or the district’s Title IX compliance officer. 

 
STUDENT CONDUCT COMPLAINT AND REPORTING 
Upon knowledge of a suspected incident, the campus administrator files a report, conducts a thorough 
investigation, and completes a follow up determination report. All parents involved are promptly notified of the 
complaint and the pending investigation. All interviews concerning any student involvement should include the 
student, the parent and an additional staff member. The investigation must include the following: 

• Conducting interviews of all students involved 
• Conducting interviews of witnesses 
• Investigating the circumstances of the incident, including events or incidents that preceded 

the incident in question 
• Documentation of all interviews on the complaint form 

 
Regardless of the outcome of the initial investigation, the campus administrator continues to monitor the 
situation, paying special attention to the student or students involved as well as the interaction with any 
incidents that may involve a staff member. The summary of the events and the findings are sent to the Title 
IX coordinator. The Title IX coordinator keeps a record of any reported incidents. The coordinator may assist 
in the investigation if needed and may be requested to offer a third party opinion for the determination of 
actual harassment. If the determination results show that some form of harassment occurred, the campus 
administrator is responsible for taking immediate and swift action to end the harassment, eliminate any hostile 
environment and its effects and prevent harassment from recurring. Any steps taken will not penalize the 
student who was harassed, intimidated and/or bullied. The actions involved may include but are not limited to 
the following: 

• Removing the student being harassed from the situation where the events occurred 
• Removing the student accused from the situation where the events occurred 
• Available counseling options for a student who is a victim of harassment intimidation and/or bullying 
• Available counseling options for a student who engaged in conduct that was harassing, intimidating 

and/or bullying 
• Consequences in accordance with the Student Code of Conduct 

 
In the event that any person involved does not agree with the determination or follow up actions, they may 
appeal in writing to the superintendent. Only written appeals will be reviewed and investigated by the 
superintendent’s office. 

Upon receipt of a written appeal concerning the determination and/or action steps taken to rectify a complaint, 
the superintendent’s office will complete the appropriate documentation, and will conduct its own investigation 
and interviews of all of the parties involved. 

 
 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK  

243



The University of Texas Elementary School  

17 

After the secondary investigation by the Office of the Superintendent and the determination that follows, the 
complaint is considered closed. All parties are notified in writing of the results of the investigation and the 
actions taken to address the situation. Further appeals or action requested by the parent or guardian shall be 
considered only in the event that further evidence can be shown to conclude that harassment may again have 
occurred. 

 
SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES 
The University of Texas-University Charter School (UT-UCS) provides a continuum of specially designed 
instructional supports and services for students with disabilities who are eligible for special education services. 
A full range of academic supports for pre-kindergarten through the fifth grade are available and can be accessed 
through either the general program of instruction or through special education instruction and related services, 
as determined by the admission, review, and dismissal (ARD) committee. The school district curriculum 
enables each student with disabilities to acquire knowledge and skills that are commensurate with the student’s 
needs and abilities and the general education curriculum. 

 
SPECIAL EDUCATION REFERRALS 
If a parent makes a written request for an initial evaluation for special education services the school must 
respond no later than 15 school days after receiving the request. At that time UTES will give the parent a prior 
written notice of whether it agrees to or refuses to evaluate the student, along with a copy of the Notice of 
Procedural Safeguards. If the school agrees to evaluate the student, it must also give the parent the opportunity 
to give written consent for the evaluation. 

Please note that a request for a special education evaluation may be made verbally and does not need to be in 
writing. UTES will comply with all federal prior written notice and procedural safeguard requirements and 
the requirements for identifying, locating, and evaluating children who are suspected of being a child with a 
disability and in need of special education. However, a verbal request does not require the school to respond 
within the 15-school-day timeline. 

If the school decides to evaluate the student, it must complete the student’s initial evaluation and evaluation 
report no later than 45 school days from the day it receives a parent’s written consent to evaluate the student. 
However, if the student is absent from school during the evaluation period for three or more school days, the 
evaluation period will be extended by the number of school days equal to the number of school days that the 
student is absent. 

There is an exception to the 45-school-day timeline. If UTES receives a parent’s consent for the initial 
evaluation at least 35 but less than 45 school days before the last instructional day of the school year, it must 
complete the written report and provide a copy of the report to the parent by June 30 of that year. However, if 
the student is absent from school for three or more days during the evaluation period, the June 30th due date 
no longer applies. Instead, the general timeline of 45 school days plus extensions for absences of three or more 
days will apply. 

Upon completing the evaluation, UTES must give the parent a copy of the evaluation report at no cost. 
 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK  

244



The University of Texas Elementary School 

18 

Additional information regarding special education is available from the school in a companion document titled 
Parent’s Guide to the Admission, Review, and Dismissal Process. 

The following websites provide information to those who are seeking information and resources specific to 
students with disabilities and their families: 

• Texas Project First
• Partners Resource Network

The designated person to contact regarding options for a child experiencing learning difficulties or 
a referral for evaluation for special education services is Special Education Director Dr. Janina Roberts, 
jroberts@austin.utexas.edu  

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

245

mailto:jroberts@austin.utexas.edu


The University of Texas Elementary School 

19 

Discipline & Anti-Bullying Policies 

DISCIPLINE POLICY 
All students have a right to learn; therefore, no child is permitted to disrupt learning. As all public schools, 
we follow both state and federal laws regarding privacy, discipline, suspensions and expulsions. 

EXPECTATIONS OF STUDENT BEHAVIOR 
All students at UTES are expected to: 
• Listen to others
• Follow directions on first request
• Respect self, others and property
• Make safe choices
• Always do your best

CONSEQUENCES 
• First Offense: quick reminder/corrective feedback is provided by teacher
• Second Offense: teacher will speak to student one-on-one with corrective feedback
• Third Offense: student will be provided a cooling down time/brain and body break
• Fourth Offense: student will have brain/body break and parents will be called
• Fifth Offense: student will earn a referral to the office
• Exceptions: We have a zero-tolerance policy for any violence committed against other students or staff,

possession of weapons, possession of drugs, extreme verbal assault against students or staff and extreme
disruptions that have a large impact on other students or put students in danger. In these situations, an
office referral will be issued and parents will be contacted.

• Students that have consistent discipline issues may have their privilege to attend field trips revoked if
administration deems their behavior unsafe.

REFERRALS 
Our staff is trained in responsive learning and classroom management. We make every attempt to correct 
behavior and support students to avoid issuing office referrals. Spending time in the office means children are 
not learning. When referrals are issued, the administrator addressing the referral will determine, based on the 
offense and her/his knowledge of the student, the actions that will be taken. Visits to the office may result in 
the following actions: 

• Conference with administrator • Cool down/body and brain break in office
• Problem solving with administrator • In-school suspension
• Suspension from school • Expulsion

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

246



The University of Texas Elementary School  

20 

EXCESSIVE DISCIPLINE ISSUES 
As all schools do, there are times when individual students consistently struggle with emotions, behavior and 
the ability to meet expectations. As our campus is committed to serving not only the academic, but social and 
emotional needs of ALL students, we work as a team to address the needs of struggling students. Providing 
support to struggling students, their parents and their teachers is a key role of the administrative team. We 
employ a number of strategies, all research based to address consistent behavioral, social or emotional issues 
including: frequent observations, developing behavior plans, developing incentive programs, consulting and 
counseling with parents, teaching self-care strategies, providing counseling, requesting support from outside 
resources and referring to outside medical or psychological services. 

When we have students that continue to be unsafe and disruptive and have been suspended for a total of ten 
days, UTES has the right to expel the student and send them back to their home school. When a child has 
earned ten suspensions, an expulsion hearing will take place. At this time, the staff will review the child’s 
discipline referrals, data from teachers and data from parents to determine if expulsion is appropriate. 
As a public school, we are required to follow all state and federal laws regarding suspensions and expulsions. 
We understand that there are times parents have concerns about other children in their child’s classroom. 
We know that this concern comes out of wanting your own child to be safe and have the best possible learning 
experience. However, we are restricted from discussing specific information about a child with parents or 
guardians other than their own. Teachers are also restricted from discussing other children’s behavior with 
parents. If you have questions or concerns, it is best to address them with the principal or assistant principal. 

 
The UT Elementary Anti-Bullying Contract appears in the appendix. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK  

247



The University of Texas Elementary School 

21 

Health & Wellness 

HEALTH 
GUIDELINES FOR KEEPING ILL CHILDREN HOME FROM SCHOOL: While attending school on a daily 
basis is vital to your child’s learning, we realize that illness does occur. In order to keep our student body 
healthy, it is important to keep kids home when they have a contagious illness or they are too ill to participate in 
learning that day. For all the guidelines below, we recommend you see your child’s healthcare provider for any 
unexplained symptoms listed below. 

BEING SENT HOME: Sometimes children will develop illness while at school, or symptoms will worsen once 
at school. In order to prevent contagious illnesses from spreading, we will contact parents to pick up their child 
for symptoms that indicate illness. Students need to be picked up within 30 minutes of notification. The nurse 
or office staff tending to the student will determine whether the student should be sent home. The following are 
only guidelines. If the school staff is concerned about a very contagious illness being passed around, parents 
may be contacted to pick up their child outside of these guidelines, in the case that their child shows other signs 
of developing illness. 

WHEN TO SEE A DOCTOR: If your child has the following symptoms, he or she should be seen by a doctor or 
be symptom-free before returning to school. 

• a rash all over the body
• a sore throat with fever or swollen glands
• persistent redness, green or yellow mucus and/or crusting in the eyes

The chart on the following page outlines guidelines for illness at school. 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

248



The University of Texas Elementary School 

22 

GUIDELINES FOR ILLNESS AT SCHOOL 

ILLNESS/INFECTION/SYMPTOM SHOULD YOU STAY HOME? WHEN CAN YOU COME BACK? 

Chicken Pox YES When all the pox have scabbed over 

Cold NO, without fever 
YES, with fever 

See Fever Guidelines 

Coxsackie (hand, food, mouth disease) NO (unless fever) See Fever Guidelines 

Diarrhea YES 18 hours after last diarrhea symptoms 

Ear Infection No (with doctor diagnosis) SMILE: You’re in school 

Fever of 100° F or greater 
(Undiagnosed illness) 

YES 18 hours after fever free, 
without fever medications 

Fifth Disease NO, without fever 
YES, with fever 

See Fever Guidelines 

Giardia YES When diarrhea subsides, 
or your doctor approves readmission 

Impetigo YES Once treatment has begun 

Lice NO Begin treatment as soon as possible 

Pink Eye YES 24 hours after treatment has begun 

Unidentified Rash YES When rash is gone, unless your doctor 
approves readmission 

Ring Worm (on the body) NO 
(But you must keep area covered) 

Doctor can recommend treatment 

Ring Worm (on the scalp) YES After treatment has begun 

Roseola YES, with fever See Fever Guidelines 

Scabies YES After treatment has begun 

Strep Throat YES 24 hours after beginning treatment, 
and when you are fever-free 

Vomiting YES 18 hours after last vomit 

Lice: If a student is identified as having lice present, a parent letter will be sent to each member of the class 
notifying them of the discovery. Names cannot be revealed, only that the presence of lice has been detected. 

Proper Rest: A solid night’s sleep is vitally important to the health and learning of children. Children need a 
minimum of eight hours of sleep each night. Sleepy children struggle to remain focused during the day, have a 
harder time regulating their emotions, and can be more prone to injury or illness. Please make sure your child/ 
children arrive to school well rested each day. 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

249



The University of Texas Elementary School  

23 

MEDICATION 
Any medication, which cannot be taken at home and must be administered during school time, must be sent to 
the office in a labeled bottle. A medical consent form signed by Parent or Guardian allowing us to administer 
the medication must be completed before we give the medicine. Proper utensils for measuring and dispensing 
the medication (syringe or medicine cup) must also be sent. All prescription medicine must be in the original 
labeled container. The container and your notes must include: student’s name, name of medicine, purpose of 
medication, dose, time of day when it is needed, and how the medicine is taken. The first dose of medicine must 
be given at home (excluding EpiPens and rescue inhalers). 

 
EMERGENCY CARE INFORMATION 
It is very important that we have a complete registration form on file for each child. All telephone numbers 
email addresses, and street addresses should be recorded and kept up to date so that a contact can be made 
as soon as possible in the event of an emergency. The school office will not release students to individuals 
not listed on the registration form. Special permission for someone else to pick up your child must be sent in 
advance and must be in writing. Parents may stop by the school office to add or delete names as appropriate. 
All parents should have a telephone number where they can be reached during the school day. Persons who are 
picking up students must provide identification as requested. 

 
WELLNESS GUIDELINES 
As a University of Texas demonstration school, we are leading the way in promoting healthy and active 
lifestyles. Therefore we go above and beyond the requirements of the National Free and Reduced Lunch 
Program (NFRLP). Below you will find federal, state, and UTES standards for food and physical activity. 

 
PHYSICAL FITNESS ASSESSMENT (FITNESS GRAM) 
Annually, the district will conduct a physical fitness assessment of students in grades three through twelve as 
required by Education Code 38.101. At the end of the school year, a parent may submit a written request to the 
UT-UCS District Assessment Coordinator to obtain the results of his or her child’s physical fitness assessment 
conducted during the school year. 

 
FEDERAL AND STATE STANDARDS 

• Foods with Minimal Nutritional Value (FMNV) are restricted during 7:10 a.m. to 3:30 p.m. 
This includes candy, soda, popsicles, chips, and caffeinated beverages, including energy drinks. 

• Competitive Foods, including all food and beverages that are not provided by school food service, 
may not be served. 

• Three school events throughout the school year may be designated as a special time for consuming FMNV 
determined by the school administrator. 

 
 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK  

250



The University of Texas Elementary School 

24 

• Campus approved field trips are not exempt from the nutrition policy.

• Parents providing their child lunch may not provide food to any other child other than their own.

• Students receive at least 135 minutes of moderate or vigorous structured physical activity per week.

• Food or physical activity may never be used as a reward or punishment.

UTES FOOD STANDARDS 
Snacks will be organized by each teacher. Please refer to the recommended snack list (see appendix) for ideas 
and campus guidelines. Please avoid snacks that are fried, high in sodium (choose foods less than 350 mg per 
serving), contain added sugar, high fructose corn syrup, and food dyes. Any snack requiring refrigeration may 
be given to the chef for keeping for the week the snack will be served. Any snacks left over at the end of the 
week will be discarded. 

If you plan to bring your child lunch from a restaurant/food trailer, please eat this with them outside at the 
picnic tables, rather than in the cafe. 

• If your child has a severe food allergy, please see the nurse for appropriate paperwork to be filled out by the
doctor. With a doctor’s note and a completed IEP, 504, or School Health Care Plan, food modifications may be
made by our chef.

• For dietary restrictions not associated with severe food allergies, the breakfast and lunch menus are available
online and are sent home at the beginning of each month. Our chefs work hard to prepare healthy food
options, with alternatives frequently available for commonly avoided foods. When foods such as dairy, gluten,
eggs, and meat are served, they will be marked on the menu so that you can send alternative meals with your
student when they need to avoid certain foods being served that day.

• Please make sure that students bring a water bottle each day and that the water bottle is brought home
regularly to be cleaned.

Keeping Children Safe 

DRILLS – EMERGENCY INFORMATION 
UT Elementary conducts emergency drills designed to assure the orderly movement of students and personnel 
to the safest area available. Emergency procedures must be done quickly and quietly. Teachers will take their 
classes to the designated safe areas. 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

251



The University of Texas Elementary School 

25 

UT Elementary conducts fire, severe weather, evacuation, lock-down, and other emergency drills designed to 
assure the orderly movement of students and personnel to the safest areas available. Even though these drills 
are almost always for practice, it is very important for students and teachers to treat them seriously. Maps and 
instructions are posted in each classroom. Each teacher will explain these in class and regular practice drills 
will occur. Staying quiet and paying close attention to instructions during drills is mandatory. When the alarm 
is sounded, students must follow the direction of teachers or administrators quickly, quietly, and in an orderly 
manner. In the event of a campus emergency, students will either be instructed to remain in their room (lock 
down), proceed with severe weather procedure, or evacuate the building for fire or emergency. 

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE/FIRE DRILL 
Emergency evacuation procedure will be used any time that remaining in the building might pose a danger to 
students. Examples are: fire, bomb threats, environmental and toxic disasters. 

The purpose of an emergency evacuation is to remove students from the building and to safety as quickly as 
possible. In the event that an evacuation is necessary, instructions will be given to evacuate the building. 

1 Students should line up and proceed in an orderly manner to the designated area. 

2 The teacher should ensure that all students are accounted for and bring an attendance 
strip with them, if possible. 

3 Students should remain quiet at these locations and quiet until further instructions are given. 

4 Once at the designated location, students should remain lined up by teacher in class order 
for a quick accounting of all students. 

LOCK-DOWN PROCEDURE 
Emergency lock-down will occur for the following: unauthorized/hostile person(s) on campus, catastrophic 
injury or accident, or any other situation requiring students to remain in the safety of the classroom. 

In the event of a lock-down drill, the teacher should: 

1 Immediately lock the door and have the students remain seated and away from the windows. 

2 The teacher will take roll immediately and account for any missing students. 

3 Students in library or computer labs should remain with the instructor. 

4 Students in a hallway or restroom should proceed to the nearest available classroom until 
the “all-clear” announcement is given. 

SEVERE WEATHER DRILL 
In the event of a severe weather emergency: 

1 Students will be given instructions by the teacher when notified of a severe weather emergency. 

2 When necessary, students will take a defense position “duck and cover” (students on knees 
in a fetal position with hands over their exposed head and neck). 

3 An “all clear” announcement will be made when it is safe to resume normal activity. 

PARENT AND STUDENT HANDBOOK 

252


	UTES Parent_Student handbook 2021-2022
	WELCOME
	PARENT & STUDENT HANDBOOK
	THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
	PARENT COMMUNICATION & INVOLVEMENT
	DISCIPLINE & ANTI-BULLYING POLICIES
	General Information
	UTES MASCOT
	DRESS CODE
	SCHOOL HOURS
	BREAKFAST AND LUNCH
	AFTER SCHOOL CARE
	CLASS/BIRTHDAY PARTIES
	STUDY/FIELD TRIPS
	CELEBRATE FREEDOM WEEK
	PLEDGE, MOMENT OF SILENCE
	PERSONAL ITEMS, CELL PHONES, AND OTHER ELECTRONIC DEVICES
	SCHOOL SUPPLIES
	TEXTBOOKS AND LIBRARY BOOKS
	SECURITY
	TRAFFIC AND SAFETY RULES

	Attendance Policy
	ATTENDANCE
	WHAT IS AN EXCUSED ABSENCE?
	WHAT IS A TARDY? WHEN ARE THEY EXCUSED?
	WHY DID I GET AN ATTENDANCE NOTICE?
	EXPECTATIONS OF STUDENT ATTENDANCE
	CONSEQUENCES

	WITHDRAWAL FROM SCHOOL

	Parent Communication & Involvement
	COMMUNICATION
	CHANGE OF ADDRESS OR PHONE NUMBER
	PARENT VISITATION
	VIDEO RECORDING
	CONFERENCES
	PARENT INVOLVEMENT
	VOLUNTEER PROGRAM
	TELEPHONE USE
	HOMEWORK
	EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSING
	REPORT CARDS
	RESPONSE TO INTERVENTION NOTIFICATION (RTI)
	SECTION 504
	SEMESTER AWARDS
	PARENTAL RIGHTS
	FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY (FERPA) STATEMENT:

	SEXUAL HARASSMENT
	STUDENT CONDUCT COMPLAINT AND REPORTING
	SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES
	SPECIAL EDUCATION REFERRALS

	Discipline & Anti-Bullying Policies
	DISCIPLINE POLICY
	EXPECTATIONS OF STUDENT BEHAVIOR
	CONSEQUENCES
	REFERRALS
	EXCESSIVE DISCIPLINE ISSUES
	The UT Elementary Anti-Bullying Contract appears in the appendix.



	Health & Wellness
	HEALTH
	The chart on the following page outlines guidelines for illness at school.

	MEDICATION
	EMERGENCY CARE INFORMATION
	WELLNESS GUIDELINES
	PHYSICAL FITNESS ASSESSMENT (FITNESS GRAM)
	FEDERAL AND STATE STANDARDS
	UTES FOOD STANDARDS

	Keeping Children Safe
	DRILLS – EMERGENCY INFORMATION
	EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE/FIRE DRILL
	LOCK-DOWN PROCEDURE
	SEVERE WEATHER DRILL







